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Amended Item in Nomination 

This SLR is issued to make the following substantive correction: 

Section 8 
The nomination checked the box for Criterion D, but the SHPO only supported criteria A and C. The nomination itself 
does not provide documentation to support Criterion D, so that will not be included in the approved nomination. 

The State Historic Preservation Office was notified of this amendment. 

Distribution 

National Register property file 
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment) 
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l1ECEIVED 2280 
1. Name of Property 
Historic name: American Thread Company 
Other names/site number: Willimantic Linen Company 
Name of related multiple property listing: NI A 

JUN 1 3 2014 

I 
1- -

[''AT: r.rnrnrn Of HISTOfllC Pl.l\CF!' 
r fl 101 'lo.I PAP!( ~rnVIC[ 

----------------------------.:L--- - --- -
(Enter "NI A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing) 

2. Location 
Street & number: 322, 440, 480. 560 Main Street and 157 Union Street 
City or town: Willimantic State: Connecticut (CT) County: Windham 
Not For Publication: □ Vicinity: □ 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification 

As the designated authori z 1der the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, 

I hereby certify that this _ nomination _ request for determination of eligibility meets 
the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic 
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. 

In my opinion, the property ✓ meets _ does not meet the National Register Criteria. I 
recommend that this property be considered significant at the following 
level(s) of significance: / 

_national _✓_ «.:s1tatewide _local 
Applicable Nat:ionaJ Register Critelia: 

_0. _B ✓C _D 

'-I 
Signature f certifying official/Title: 

OeD IA.-hl s. H PO I Jlat; Iii fHd(; m J. t)f ~ (/ r , I 
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government 

In my opinion, the property _meets_ does not meet the National Register criteria. 

Signature of commenting official: 

Title: 

1 

Date 

State or Federal agency/bureau 
or Tribal Government 
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4. National Park Service Certification 

I hereby certify that this property is: 

/entered in the National Register 

_ determined eligible for the National Register 

_ determined not eligible for the National Register 

_ removed from the National Register 

_ other (explain:) 

Signature 

5. Classification 

Ownership of Property 

(Check as many boxes as apply.) 
Private: 0 
Public - Local 0 
Public - State D 
Public - Federal D 
Category of Property 

(Check only one box.) 

Building( s) 

District 

Site 

Structure 

Object 

□ 
0 
□ 
□ 
□ 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

Date of Action 
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Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count) 

Contributing Noncontributing 
14 Q 

Q 

Q 

12 

Q 

Q 

3 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

buildings 

sites 

structures 

objects 

Total 

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register Q 

6. Function or Use 
Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility 
INDUSTRY/warehouse 
INDUSTRY /waterworks 

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
COMMERCE/TRADE/business 
DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling 
INDUSTRY/manufacturing facility 
RECREATION AND CULTURE/museum 
LANDSCAPE/park 
LANDSCAPE/parking lot 
VACANT 
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7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
LATE VICTORIAN/Romanesque Revival 
LATE VICTORIAN/Queen Anne 
19TH and 20TH CENTURY INDUSTRIAL 
LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS/Colonial Revival 

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

Principal exterior materials of the property: STONE/Granite gneiss; BRICK; WOOD/Shingle 
Foundations: STONE/Granite gneiss 
Walls: STONE/Granite gneiss; BRICK; CONCRETE; WOOD/Shingle 
Roofs: ASPHALT; ASBESTOS 
Other: 

Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe 
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that 
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, 
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has 
historic integrity.) 

Summary Paragraph 

See continuation sheet(s) 

Narrative Description 

See continuation sheet(s) 
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8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register 
listing.) 

□ 
0 

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 
broad patterns of our history. 

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction. 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 
history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

D A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

D B. Removed from its original location 

D C. A birthplace or grave 

D D. A cemetery 

D E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

□ F. A commemorative property 

□ G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years 

Areas of Significance 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
Architecture 
Community Planning & Development 
Industry 

Period of Significance 
1857-1916 
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Significant Dates 
1857. 1864, 1877, 1898. 1916 

Significant Person 
(Complete only if Criterion Bis marked above.) 
NIA 

Cultural Affiliation 
NIA 

Architect/Builder 
Nathaniel Olin 
Lyman Jordan 
others unknown 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 
applicable criteria considerations.) 

See continuation sheet(s) 

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of 
significance.) 

See continuation sheet(s) 
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9. Major Bibliographical References 

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.) 

See continuation sheet(s) 

Previous documentation on file (NPS): 

__ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested 
__ previously listed in the National Register 
__ previously determined eligible by the National Register 
__ designated a National Historic Landmark 
__ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey # _____ _ 
X recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # 
CT-44-A (Mill I); CT-44-B (Mill 5); CT-44-C (Mill 2); CT-166 (Bridge No. 1850) 
CT-44 (all mill buildings) 
__ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # ____ _ 

Primary location of additional data: 
State Historic Preservation Office 

__ Other State agency 
__ Federal agency 
__ Local government 
__ University 

Other 
X Name of repository: Windham Textile and History Museum 

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): _______ _ 

10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property 11.62 acres 

UTM References 

l. Zone: 18 

2. Zone: 18 

Easting: 732709 

Easting: 732543 

Northing: 4621618 

Northing: 4621475 



United States Department of the Interior 
National Par1< Service/ National Register of Historic Places Registration Form 
NPS Form 10·900 0MB No. 1024-0018 

American Thread Company 
Name of Property 

3. Zone: 18 

4. Zone: 18 

5. Zone: 18 

6. Zone: 18 

7. Zone: 18 

Easting: 732433 

Easting : 732449 

Easting: 732229 

Easting: 732404 

Easting: 732636 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

Northing: 4621467 

Northing: 4621417 

Northing: 4621356 

Northing: 4621312 

Northing: 4621452 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.) 

The boundary included in this nomination is bounded by the property lines of the parcels 
included. Please see attached map. 

157 Union Street 
322 Main Street 
440 Main Street 
480 Main Street 
569 Main Street 

14-5/132/7 
14-5/140/9 and 14-5/140/9-2 
14-5/140/10 
14-5/140/9-1 
13-5/139/2-1 

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 

The nominated property includes all the extant mills, store houses, and other associated 
buildings of the American Thread Company and its predecessor, the Willimantic Linen 
Company, including the Stable, the Office, and the Library & Company Store. 

The site and ruins of two additional buildings, located on the opposite (south) side of the 
Willimantic River, are not included in this nomination. A large mill building on that site 
burned in 1995 and was razed. A small storehouse is in ruins and no longer retains historic 
integrity. 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title: Marguerite Carnell Rodney, architectural historian 
organization: NIA 
street & number: 33 Seminary Road 
city or town: Simsbury state: CT zip code: 06070 
e-mail: mcrodney@comcast.net 
telephone: 860-550-4184 
date: April 28, 2014 
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Additional Documentation 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 

• Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's 
location. 

• Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous 
resources. Key all photographs to this map. 

• Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.) 

Photographs 
Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels 
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs 
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to 
the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, 
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on 
every photograph. 

Photo & Figure Log 
Name of Property: 
City or Vicinity: 
County: 
State: 

American Thread Mill 
Willimantic 
Windham 
CT 

Photographer: Marguerite Carnell Rodney 
Date Photographed: April and May 2013 
Number of Photographs: 21 

Photo #1 
View of the mill complex from Main Street, Mill 2 at left; camera facing southeast. 

Photo #2 
Facade (northeast elevation) of Mill 1 ("ArtSpace" at 480 Main Street), camera facing 
southwest. 

Photo #3 

View of south side of mill complex from third floor of the Wheel House, Mill 2 at right; 
camera facing southwest. 
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Photo #4 
Third floor interior of Mill 2, camera facing southwest. 

Photo #5 
West wall of the Wheel House, camera facing northeast. 

Photo #6 
Mill No. 2 dam and tail race (far left), east wall of the Wheel House (left) and the Machine 
Shop (in front of Wheel House), camera facing southwest. 

Photo #7 
South (left) and east sides of the Office, camera facing west. 

Photo #8 
North (left) and west sides of the Stable, camera facing southeast. 

Photo #9 
North wall of Store House & Inspection Building, camera facing southwest. 

Photo #10 
View from Main Street of brick Storehouse (left) and Library & Company Store (right), 
camera facing northeast. 

Photo #11 
View of Library (third floor), camera facing southeast. 

Photo #12 
View of south side of mill complex, with southwest corner of the Bleachery/Dye House 
(left), the Dye House (center), and Mill 2 (right); camera facing northeast. 

Photo #13 
West side of Bleachery/Dye House (left), and River Dye House, camera facing east. 

Photo #14 
Third floor interior of Bleachery/Dye House, camera facing northwest. 

Photo #15 
Gate House and fence, view toward Main Street, camera facing northwest. 

Photo #16 
River Dye House, view toward Willimantic River, camera facing east. 

Photo #17 
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Store House (560 Main Street), view from Main Street, camera facing west. 

Photo #18 
Stone Bridge ( 440 Main Street), camera facing southwest. 

Photo #19 
Iron Bridge, camera facing southeast. 

Photo #20 
Mill No. 2 Tail race, camera facing southwest. 

Photo #21 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

Fragment of mill machinery (possibly a ceiling drive shaft) located outside the 
Bleachery/Dye House, camera facing southeast. 

Figure #1 
1920 Associated Factory Mutual Insurance Company Map. 
Collection of the Windham History and Textile Museum, Willimantic, CT. 

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response 
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 
et seq.). 
Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including 
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding 
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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Narrative Description 

Summary Paragraph 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

The American Thread Company (known until 1898 as the Willimantic Linen Company) mill 
complex is located on Main Street in Willimantic, east of the central business district, on the east 
side of the so-called "Frog Bridge" (the South Street bridge, officially named "Thread City 
Crossing") spanning the Willimantic River. The site is generally flat, with a gentle slope to the 
west. It is bounded on the east side by parcel boundaries; to the south by the southern bank of the 
Willimantic River; on the west by the bridge; and at the north by Main and Union Streets. 

The main group of buildings (Photograph 1) is connected in a linear arrangement to Mill No. 2, 
the largest building, which dominates the complex. The buildings range in height from one to 
five stories and are mostly constructed of granite gneiss quarried from the bed and banks of the 
Willimantic River. They have masonry load-bearing walls and heavy timber interior frames. 
Two twentieth-century buildings are reinforced concrete. There is also a brick gatehouse, a brick 
warehouse, and a brick and wood frame company store/library. All buildings are contributing 
resources. The Mill No. 1 and Mill No. 2 dams, the Mill No. 2 tail race, and two bridges 
constructed by the company are all contributing structures. 

Resource Inventory 

Address Original Use Material Date Style C/NC Photos 
322 Main St. Bleachery/ Gran. gneiss 1883 Romanesque Revival C 12-14 

Dye House 
322 Main St. Dye House Gran. gneiss 1864 Romanesque Revival C 1, 3, 12 
322 Main St. Gate House Brick ca.1915 Colonial Revival C 15 
322 Main St. Machine Shop Gran. gneiss 1864 Romanesque Revival C 6,20 
322 Main St. Mill No. 2 (spinning Gran. gneiss 1864 Romanesque Revival C 1, 3, 4 

reeling, winding, 
twisting) 

322 Main St. Office Gran. gneiss 1866 Romanesque Revival C 7 
322 Main St. River Dye House Cone. & ca. 1916 20th c Industrial C 3, 16 

Brick 
322 Main St. Stable Gran. gneiss 1872-3 Romanesque Revival C 8 
322 Main St. Store House/ Gran. gneiss 1873 Romanesque Revival C 9 

Inspection 
322 Main St. Wheel House Gran. gneiss 1864 Romanesque Revival C 5,6 
440 Main St. Bridge Gran. gneiss 1857 Double arch C 18 
480 Main St. Mill No. 1 Gran. gneiss 1857 19th c Industrial C 2 

( draughting, spinning, 
winding) 

560 Main St. Store House Concrete 1916 20th c Industrial C 17 
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157 Union St. Library & 
Company Store 

157 Union St. Store House 

Mill No. 1 

Brick 

Brick 

1877 Queen Anne 

1877 19th c Industrial 

Windham County, CT 
County and State 

C 

C 

10, 11 

10 

Mill No. 1 (Photograph 2) was completed in 1857, the first mill building erected by the 
Willimantic Linen Company on the north bank of the Willimantic River. The builder was 
Nathaniel Olin. It is 228 feet long by 70 feet wide, and 3 1/2 stories high with a gable roof. The 
tower is five stories high with a pyramidal hipped roof. An addition to the west end was 
completed in 1878, 87 feet by 50 feet, with a flat roof. The granite gneiss stonework is laid in 
coursed ashlar, alternating wide and narrow courses, with corner quoins and large stone lintels 
and sills. The third floor has vertical metal panel siding. A small date stone is set under the third 
floor window on the tower. The first, second and third-floor windows are twelve-over-twelve. 
The top half-story has eight-over-eight windows. All windows are replacements. The windows 
on the front of the tower replace double doors that once provided access for large machinery. 
The gable roof and the tower roof have asphalt shingles. There were dormers on the gable roof, 
which were removed when the mill was rehabilitated ca. 2003. It was converted into "ArtSpace," 
a multi-family housing facility with a community art gallery, and retains much of the industrial 
character of the building. 

Mill No. 2 
Mill No. 2 (Photographs 1, 3) is located on the north bank of the Willimantic River, parallel to 
Main Street. 404 feet in length, 69 feet wide, and four stories high (each story is twelve feet 
high), it is the largest building in the complex. Completed in 1864, Mill No. 2 was the second 
major building erected by the Willimantic Linen Company. The builder was Nathaniel Olin. The 
massive building is Romanesque Revival in style, coursed rubble granite gneiss constructed with 
a water table, corner quoins, and stone lintels and sills. The central stair tower is 100 feet tall 
with an 1864 date stone. 

The tower has a cantilevered steel beam at the top and a pair of doors at each floor level, 
including the attic, for moving large equipment. The doors have been replaced. The masonry 
openings for the doors have arched tops with keystones and fanlights. The sides of the tower 
have window openings fitted with pairs of original arched top windows. On the main mill 
building, the large windows on the first three floors are 12-over-16 replacements. The fourth­
floor windows are 12-over-12, also replacements. The gable roof is asphalt shingles, and the 
cornice is embellished with <lentils. In 1872, over forty dormer windows were installed to make 
the attic usable space. The dormers were removed after damage sustained in the 1938 hurricane. 

On the south side, a slightly taller, narrow cross gable bisects the mill behind the tower. This 
tower, which provided bathrooms at each level, is a later addition. On the north side, two metal 
fire escape stairs with brackets enriched with elaborate scrollwork remain intact. Inside, the 
fourth floor is suspended from the roof truss system and has no columns. The east side of the 
building and the first floor of the west side have been rehabilitated for commercial and light 
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manufacturing use, and it retains much of its industrial character. Above the first floor, the west 
side remains vacant unfinished industrial space with wood floors (Photograph 4). 

Wheel House 
Attached as an ell on the south side of Mill No. 2 with the tail race running beneath it, the Wheel 
House (Photographs 5 and 6) was built in 1864 with a large overshot water wheel. The builder 
was likely Nathaniel Olin. The Wheel House is connected to Mill No. 2 just east of the building 
center. It is 56 feet by 76 feet, 9 bays long by 5 bays wide and 4 stories high, with a gable roof 
perpendicular to the mill. It is Romanesque Revival style, with coursed rubble granite gneiss 
stonework, corner quoins, stone lintels and sills, and a water table. On the west side, there are 
central door openings at all three levels with fanlights. The doors are replacements. The east side 
has a first-floor door with fanlight. Typical windows are twelve-over-sixteen, which are all 
recent replacements. On the west side, the first floor window openings are smaller and square, 
with 36 light windows, also replacements. Under the gable on the south side are three arched top 
windows. The roof has asphalt shingles and a cornice embellished with dentils. Most of the 
building remains as vacant open industrial space, with wood floors. 

Machine Shop 
The Machine Shop (Photographs 6 and 20) is attached to the east side of the Wheel House and is 
also located above the tail race. It is 25 feet wide by 50 feet deep, 3 bays wide and two stories 
high, with a shallow pitch shed roof. The builder was likely Nathaniel Olin. It blends with the 
Romanesque Revival style of Mill No. 2 and the Wheel House, and the coursed rubble granite 
gneiss stonework is high quality, with corner quoins, stone lintels and sills. The masonry on the 
second story of the north wall differs from the first story and may have been a later addition, 
possibly in 1907, when the Storehouse and Inspection Building was enlarged. (The building 
appears on a 1908 insurance map as two stories.) The north side has a central entry; the original 
door is not extant. The windows are twelve-over-sixteen. The east side of the building is a 
mostly blank rough wall, exposed after the demotion of the adjoining carpenter's shop. The 
building is raw industrial space and is vacant. 

Dye House 
The Dye House (Photographs 1, 3, 12) is located on the west side of Mill No. 2. Completed in 
1864, the building is 124 feet long, 68 feet wide, and two stories high with an attic under a gable 
roof. It was probably built by Nathaniel Olin. The building blends in with the Romanesque 
Revival Mill No. 2 and the coursed rubble granite gneiss stonework is high quality, with corner 
quoins and stone lintels and sills. On the north and south sides, there are off-center arched door 
openings at both the first and second stories. On the north side, there is a cantilevered steel beam 
above the upper door for moving large equipment All of the original doors have been removed. 
The window openings are tall and narrow, each fitted with a pair of eight-over-four windows. 
The windows are recent replacements. The building has a wood cornice with prominent dentils 
and an asphalt shingle roof. At the east end, the building is connected to Mill No. 2 with a large 
bridge at the second story and attic levels. At the west end, it is connected to the Bleachery/Dye 
House with a narrow three-story stone structure. On the south side there is evidence of a one-
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Windham County, CT 
County and State 

story addition with a gable roof, which has been removed. The building is vacant, open and 
unfinished industrial space with wood floors. 

Office 
The Office (Photograph 7), located in front of Mill No. 2, was completed in 1866. It is 
constructed of coursed rubble granite gneiss. It is eclectic in nature, with a Greek Revival temple 
front and small attic-level windows, but other stylistic features are Romanesque Revival, 
including arched windows and doors with prominent keystones, oculi at the gable ends, and 
prominent corner quoins. The deep fascia board and cornice are embellished with dentils. The 
original doors are intact, including the north entrance from Main Street. The first floor window 
openings are partially covered with plywood, and some smaller panes of glass remain intact, but 
most glass is missing. The attic windows have been removed. The roof is asphalt shingles. 

The building originally housed executive offices and boardrooms. The interior was very finely 
finished, with marble mantels, chestnut and walnut woodwork, and plaster ceiling moldings. 
Nothing remains of the interior finishes except for a marble mantel on the west wall. The 
building is under construction for adaptive re-use as a coffee shop. 

Stable 
The Stable (Photograph 8) was constructed 1872-1873, east of the Store House and Inspection 
Building. Like the mill buildings, it is constructed of coursed rubble granite gneiss. It is 
Romanesque Revival, a high-style building for its utilitarian function of housing horses, wagons, 
and hay. It is seven bays by three bays, 74 feet long, 43 feet wide, and two stories high. The 
basement opens to the ground level on the south side, where the site slopes down toward the 
river bank. Stylistic flourishes include segmental arches with prominent keystones at entrances, 
an oculus window opening at each gable end, prominent corner quoining, large stone lintels, and 
a water table and a belt course. The fascia board and cornice are embellished with dentils. The 
barn doors, including the hay doors, are intact. The first floor and some second floor windows 
openings are in-filled with plywood on the east and north sides. Some six-over-six windows 
remain at the first floor, and three-over-three windows at the second floor. The track for the hay 
carrier is also extant. The roof is cement asbestos shingles. The building interior remains 
unfinished and is vacant. 

Store House & Inspection Building 
The Store House and Inspection Building (Photograph 9) was built in 1873 as a two-story granite 
gneiss building with a gable roof. It was probably built by Nathaniel Olin. The building was 
renovated in 1907, with two new stories constructed with salvaged stone from two demolished 
1858 company houses (known originally as "stone row"). When the addition was complete, the 
building was thirteen bays by seven bays, 109 feet by 65 feet wide. The building is Romanesque 
Revival in style, with high quality coursed rubble stonework, with corner quoins and stone lintels 
and sills. The large windows are 12-over-16 replacements of the originals. The roof has a very 
low pitch, appearing almost flat, with a bracketed cornice. 
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In 1908, the building was connected to Mill No. 2 with a walkway at the first floor. It is currently 
connected to Mill No. 2 with a walkway at the 4th floor and a one-story garage. On the east side 
is a recent four-story addition of glass, which serves as a new entrance. The building was 
rehabilitated in the 1990s and is currently used for office space and light manufacturing. 

Library and Company Store 
This three-story, L-shaped building (Photograph 10) is located on north side of Main Street at the 
intersection with Union Street. Completed in 1877, it is Queen Anne style, with a granite gneiss 
foundation, decorative polychrome brickwork and brownstone lintels at the first floor level, and 
wood shingles above. It has a hipped roof with hipped dormers and a wide bracketed cornice. 
The roof is asphalt shingles. There are four tall decorative polychrome brick chimneys with 
corbelled tops. The Main Street entrance is original, as well as the majority of the windows. It is 
now known as Dunham Hall and is occupied by the Windham Textile & History Museum. The 
first and second floors contain exhibit space. The third floor, which was originally the mill's 
Library (Photograph 11), remains largely intact and is used for the museum's archives and 
meeting space. 

Store House 
Located on the north side of Main Street, west of the Library & Company Store, this brick 
building (Photograph 10) is built into a slope at its northern end, where the foundation is granite 
gneiss. It was constructed as one-story warehouse in 1877; the second story was added ca. 1900-
1910. It is 30 feet wide and 60 feet deep, three bays by seven bays. The Union Street elevation 
has a flat-topped parapet wall. The doors are original, though the entry porch at the Main Street 
entrance is not. The windows are original, two-over-two double hung. The first floor lintels and 
sills are granite; at the second floor, they are cast stone. The shallow hip roof has a wide, plain 
cornice and asphalt shingles. A one-story wood frame addition has been removed from the east 
side. The building was later occupied by the mill's fire brigade; it is now known as Dugan Mill 
and used as exhibit space by the Windham Textile & History Museum. 

Bleachery/Dye House 
The Bleachery (Photographs 12 and 13), later known as the Dye House, is connected to the west 
side of the 1864 Dye House and is at the western end of Mill No 2's connected buildings. It is 98 
feet long by 78 feet wide, nine bays by seven bays, and three stories high. Completed in 1883, it 
is Romanesque Revival in style with finely executed coursed rubble granite gneiss stonework, 
with corner quoins and stone lintels and sills. The entrance on the north side is located in the 
connector to the 1864 Dye House, with an arched opening. On the west side there are central 
door openings at all three levels. The first and second floor have arched tops, while the third 
floor, which appears to have been altered, has a segmental arch. Another first floor door opening 
at the northwest corner also has an arch but the opening has been doubled in width, supported by 
a steel beam. No original doors are extant. The first floor windows are like those of the 1864 Dye 
House, tall and narrow, each fitted with a pair of eight-over-four windows. The second and third 
floor windows are twelve-over-twelve. All windows are recent replacements. The roof has a very 
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shallow pitch and a bracketed cornice. The building interior (Photograph 14) remains as raw 
industrial space, partially dismantled, and vacant. 

Gate House 
The Gate House (Photograph 15), built ca. 1915 by the American Thread Company, is directly 
adjacent to the Office. It is a small one-story, single room Colonial Revival red brick building, 
hexagonal in plan, with a hexagonal peaked roof crowned with a decorative finial. The roof has 
asphalt shingles. The Gate House is set within a metal fence with a gate at the east side, and it 
originally served as a check-in point for the mill complex. The entrance door is located on the 
south side of the fence, within the mill complex. On the north sides, facing Main Street, are two 
six-over-six double hung wood windows with concrete lintels and sills. The building is not 
currently in use. 

River Dye House 
The River Dye House (Photograph 16), built ca. 1916 by the American Thread Company, is 
directly on the Willimantic River; its concrete piers are set into the river. It is located directly 
south of the dye houses connected to Mill No. 2. This building is two stories high, 136 feet long 
and 31 feet deep. It is reinforced concrete and brick. While the building has suffered substantial 
losses, many character-defining features remain, including the first and second floor structure, 
concrete floor slabs, concrete columns, and portions of the brick exterior wall. Future plans for 
the building include stabilization of the structure and restoration. 

Store House 
The Store House (Photograph 17) is located west of Mill No. 1, adjacent to the bridge that 
crosses the Willimantic River. Built by American Thread, it is reinforced concrete, 191 feet long 
by 119 feet wide (nine bays long by five bays wide), and five stories high. The building is 
partially constructed over the river, and the basement level has windows on the river side. It is 
utilitarian in appearance, with no embellishment beyond the stepped parapet at the Main Street 
elevation, with the year of the building ( 1916) cast into the concrete. Typical windows are 
roughly square, with hoppers below for ventilation. The windows, including the hoppers, have 
simulated muntins to create the appearance of six-over-three windows. The windows are all 
replacements. The roof is flat. The building was recently rehabilitated for use as multi-family 
housing. It is now known as 560 Main Street. 

Demolished Buildings 
The Spool Shop, a ca. 1828 granite gneiss building originally known as the Jillson Mill, was the 
first mill building occupied by the Willimantic Linen Company. Standing west of the 1916 Store 
House, it was later used for making wooden thread spools. It was demolished in 1915. Mill No. 
3, an 1845 stone mill building located on another site east of the mill complex, was demolished 
after World War I. 
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Mill No. 4, a large 1880 single-story brick building on the south side of the river, burned in 1995. 
The 1884 Cotton House, located east of Mill No. 4, is now in ruins. The ruins of these buildings 
are not included in this nomination. 

Many of the brick mill buildings, which were constructed by the American Thread Company 
shortly after it purchased the Willimantic Linen Company in 1898, are no longer extant. Some 
were demolished between 1996 and 2001, in anticipation of the redevelopment of the stone 
buildings. The site of Mill No. 5, Mill No. 6, and the Bleach House is now a parking lot, with the 
Windham Mills State Heritage Park at the river's edge. 

Other buildings demolished during that time include the 1918 concrete Auto House (a garage), 
located north of the Stable, and the Engine House, built ca. 1900 with steam turbines that 
replaced Mill No. 2's water wheel. Another was the Boiler House (original date unknown; rebuilt 
in 1900 with an additional story to accommodate 20 foot high steel boilers). It was connected 
( through another building) to the south side of the 1864 Dye House. The Boiler House smoke 
stack, constructed of buff-colored fire brick, suffered storm damage and was demolished in 2011. 
The Carpenter Shop was also demolished in recent years. See attached district map for locations 
of demolished buildings. 

Worker Housing 
Worker housing, including a group of duplexes known as "Iverton" and a larger multi-family 
building called "The Elms," are located east of the mill complex on several blocks on Main and 
Ives Streets, between Chapin Street and Capen Lane. Across the Willimantic River, a cluster of 
roughly 40 single-family houses known as "The Oaks" remains on Quercus Avenue. While 
worth noting, worker housing is not included in this nomination. 

Structures and Objects 

Stone Bridge 
The Stone Bridge (Photograph 18) is known as the Windham Road Bridge (previously known as 
the Jillson Hill Bridge). It was built in 1857 along with Mill No. I and its dam. It is located on the 
east side of Mill No. 1. The bridge is stone arch construction, built of local granite gneiss laid in 
coursed rubble. It is 130 feet long with two spans. The main span over the river has an arch that 
is 76 feet wide and rises 20 feet at its crown. The tailrace span (from another mill, no longer 
extant) is 26 feet, with a rise of 8 feet. The river and the tail race are separated by a reinforced 
concrete wall that is built atop an earlier rubble stone wall. The walls of the bridge continue past 
the road surface, forming parapet walls 3 feet high and 22 inches thick. The road is 21 feet wide 
between the parapets. At the north end, the bridge connects to a stone wall with an arched tunnel 
that once served the mill's internal railroad. The bridge is now closed to vehicular traffic and has 
been recently resurfaced with concrete pavers. It is now known as the Windham Garden on the 
Bridge, maintained by the Willimantic Garden club. 
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The Iron Bridge (Photograph 19) was completed in 1880 to link the complex to Mill No. 4 on the 
south side of the river, also built in 1880. It is located between the Store House & Inspection 
Building and the Stable. It is a deck truss bridge, with the truss structure located beneath the 
bridge road surface, resting on a stone foundation. The bridge road surface is wood plank. The 
west side has a decorative iron railing. The east side railing is no longer extant; in its place is a 
roughly constructed utilitarian metal railing. The bridge is currently closed. 

Mill No. 1 Dam 
Mill No. l's original dam was a framed timber structure. In 1888, a new stone dam (extant) was 
built, constructed of granite gneiss blocks, with eleven feet of head. It is located at the 
downstream (east) end of the mill. In 1903, it was rebuilt in order to drive a hydroelectric 
facility. 

Mill No. 2 Dam 
Mill No. 2' s dam (Photograph 6) was built ca. 1862-64, constructed of granite gneiss blocks, 
with twenty two feet of head. 

Mill No. 2 Tail Race 
Mill No. 2's tail race (Photograph 6, 20) is about forty feet wide, with walls were constructed of 
rubble granite gneiss. The walls have been repaired with concrete. The tail race was dredged in 
1988. 

Objects 
Various fragments of mill machinery are scattered about the site (Photograph 21). These objects 
are non-contributing. 
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The American Thread Mill complex is significant as a major textile mill that contributed to the 
rapid growth of Willimantic and played an important role in its development as a center of textile 
manufacturing (Criterion A). Beginning with the construction of Mill No.1 and its accompanying 
dam and bridge in 1857, the mill harnessed the power of the Willimantic River and provided a 
livelihood for thousands of workers over several generations. Textile manufacturing was 
continuous on the site for almost 130 years, beginning with linen, quickly changing to cotton, 
and eventually switching to synthetic textiles before closing in 1985. Mill No. 2, which has 
visually dominated the mill complex since 1864, was the site of early experimentation with 
electric lighting, leading to the radically different design of Mill No. 4 (1880) as the first mill 
building in the world designed for electric lighting. 1 Despite the loss of most of the complex's 
brick mills, it retains much of its character through the survival of its earlier stone buildings, built 
of granite gneiss quarried from the banks of the Willimantic River. The buildings are excellent 
examples of mid to late nineteenth-century industrial architecture using local materials (Criterion 
C). The early twentieth-century concrete warehouse also remains intact. In addition, the mill 
property has potential to yield important archaeological resources (Criterion D). 

The complex is significant on the state level. It is comparable to other major mills in 
Connecticut's eastern uplands, where the majority of the state's cotton mills were located. Other 
cotton mills of similar significance include the Wauregan Mill (1853-1868) in Plainfield and the 
Grosvenor-Dale Company (1862-1872) in Thompson. It was not as large as the Sprague Mill 
(1901) in Baltic, or the Ponemah Mill (1865) in Taftville.2 

Textile Production in Willimantic 
Connecticut, Rhode Island, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire all benefit from plentiful rainfall 
and hilly terrain--attractive qualities for nineteenth-century entrepreneurs and mill builders. 
While the South was transformed by the cultivation of cotton, much of southern New England 
was significantly altered by cotton mills, especially eastern Connecticut. Willimantic in 
particular was dominated by cotton manufacturing for over 100 years.3 The name Willimantic 
may be derived from the native American name for the area "Willimentuck," which meant "land 
of the swift running waters." The fact that the Willimantic River dropped over 90 feet in under a 
mile drew entrepreneurs to build a number of cotton mills in the area. The construction of the 
railroad to Willimantic in 1849 further spurred growth.4 

Located on the western side of Windham, Willimantic was a relatively small community through 
the first two decades of the nineteenth century.5 By the beginning of the Civil War, it had 
evolved into a thriving city with a population around of 4,000, many of whom were employed by 
the mills or involved in trades that supported them. All of them were dependent, directly or 
indirectly, on the cotton industry.6 By 1890, the population had swelled tol0,032. American 
Thread was one of several major textile mills in Willimantic; two other cotton mills, the 
Windham Cotton Manufacturing Company and the Smithville Cotton Mill, were located less 
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than a mile upriver, on Bridge Street. There were also silk mills such as the Rossie Velvet 
Company, the Holland Silk Factory, and the Chaffee Silk Mill. American Thread was the largest 
textile mill in Willimantic and enjoyed the greatest longevity. While the other major cotton mills 
operated for over one hundred years, they both closed in 1926 (along with over 50 mills 
throughout New England that year). The silk mills began to close in the 1930s, while American 
Thread continued production for almost 130 years, into the 1980s.7 

The migration of textile production from New England to the South was caused in part by 
cheaper labor costs (and less union activity) in southern states. Another significant factor was 
the construction of new modern, single-story mills in the South that accommodated updated 
machinery and production methods more easily than older, multi-level New England mill 
buildings. Construction costs in the North were also higher, discouraging textile companies from 
renovating and rebuilding. 8 

The Willimantic Linen Company 
The Willimantic Linen Company was founded by Lawson Ives and Austin Dunham, both 
Hartford businessmen, to manufacture linen and cotton goods. The company soon switched 
entirely to cotton, possibly because the Crimean War ( 1853-1856) deprived the mill of raw flax. 
It is more likely, however, that linen production simply was not profitable; cheaper linen was 
available from Ireland and Scotland. 9 

The Willington Thread Company, owned by Origen Hall and Elisha Johnson, is credited as the 
first company to produce thread finished with a glaze (sizing). In 1845, Ives and Dunham 
partnered with William H. Jillson and John H. Capen to open the Welles Manufacturing 
Company. Elisha Johnson moved his thread making equipment from Willington to Willimantic 
in 1857, into a large new mill built by Nathaniel Olin, a mason from Plainfield, and financed by 
Lawson Ives. That building became known as the Willimantic Linen Company's Mill No. 1.10 

The stone arched bridge adjacent to Mill No. 1 was also completed in 1857. Its engineer was 
Whiting Hayden, a Willimantic resident who also supervised the construction of several of the 
early mill buildings for the Willimantic Linen Company. The builder was local stone mason 
Lyman Jordan along with Nathaniel Olin. The mill was under the supervision of Gardiner Hall 
(Origen's brother) until 1864. 11 

Austin Dunham purchased Jillson and Capen's shares in the business in 1858 and formed the 
Dunham Manufacturing Company, which produced cotton warp. Dunham then sold his 
company to the Willimantic Linen Company in 1877, and his building became Mill No. 3 (no 
longer extant). Ives and Dunham anticipated the coming of the Civil War and the accompanying 
cotton shortage. They began to stockpile raw cotton in the late 1850s. Their prescience made 
them a huge fortune. Profits from selling cotton thread during the war financed the construction 
of Mill No. 2, and worker housing. They spent over a million dollars on this building 

· 12 campaign. 
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The dam for Mill No. 2 was completed ca. 1863 by Nathaniel Olin. It was eighteen feet high, ten 
feet thick at the base, and six feet thick at the top. Mill No. 2, also built by Olin, was completed 
the following year. When it was finished it was the second largest mill in Connecticut, second 
only to the 1887 Sprague Mill in Baltic. 13 

A series of buildings built in a linear arrangement were connected to Mill No. 2. The Dye House, 
built on the west side of Mill No. 2, was also completed in 1864. The Wheel House and the 
Machine Shop, connected to Mill No. 2 on the south side, were also built in 1864. The Store 
House & Inspection Building was built on the east side of Mill No. 2 in 1873, for storage of 
skeins as well as for product inspection. (It was later used for the company's credit union & 
health care facility.) Originally built as a two-story structure, it was doubled in height in 1907. 
The Bleachery/Dye House, located on the west side of the Dye House, was finished in 1883. 
This group of mill buildings, with over 700 feet of facade built of native stone with excellent 
craftsmanship and Romanesque Revival inspired detailing, is a Willimantic landmark. It makes 
a clear, deliberate statement about the wealth, status, power, and ambition of the Willimantic 
Linen Company. 

In addition to the mills, the company constructed a number of buildings for administrative and 
supportive functions. Two of these, in particular, exemplify the company's commitment to fine 
design and craftsmanship. Located in front of Mill No. 2, the Stone Office built in the Greek 
Revival temple-front form, was completed in 1866. Built to accommodate the company's 
executives and bookkeepers, it was very finely appointed, with a marble fireplace, windows with 
accents of colored glass, walnut and chestnut woodwork, and fine chandeliers, furnishings and 
textiles. The building was clearly a celebration of the company's great success, a veritable 
temple to industry and capitalism. Similarly, the Stable (1873) built to accommodate the 
company's horses, mules, and carriages, was designed in high style. Its stonework and detailing 
are as elaborate as the Office, with its belt courses, arched entrances, and oculus windows. 

William Eliot Barrows and the Company Store & Library Building 
William Eliot Barrows, a businessman born in Ohio (the son of theologian Elijah Porter Barrows, 
who born in Mansfield, Connecticut), arrived in Willimantic in 1874. He was hired by Austin 
Cornelius Dunham, the son of founder Austin Dunham. His job was to organize the Willimantic 
Linen Company's finances, but he was also very interested in alleviating the social ills that 
accompanied industrialization. Upon Austin Dunham's death in 1877, he became the company's 
vice president, treasurer, and general manager. He became president of the company in 1882 and 
then resigned the following year, moving to Chicago to work with George Pullman. 14 

Barrows was responsible for continuing the company's building expansion campaign and 
launching a variety of social programs for the workforce. He was the impetus behind the library 
and company store; a dance pavilion; a neighborhood of skilled worker housing (the Oaks); and 
Mill No. 4, which was the largest mill building in the world when it was completed in 1880.15 
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The library and company store building, located on the north side of Main Street, was completed 
in 1877. The first floor was a meat and oyster market, while the second floor was stocked with 
dry goods, shoes, and a millinery shop. The store was not a bargain--there were no low prices for 
the workers, but neither was it profitable. It remained in operation for just seven years. The 
store's sRace was leased from 1885-1892; after that, it was renovated for use as company 
offices. 6 

The Dunham Hall Library above the store on the third floor was more successful, lasting from 
1878 until 1941, and the library interior retains its original woodwork. Barrows borrowed the 
idea of a company library from English firms, and the building's architecture, with its complex, 
overhanging roof and exuberant decorative brickwork was designed to evoke Elizabethan 
England. The library was open in the evenings, 5:30 to 9:30, not only to all mill workers but also 
to the entire community. It began with a collection of 600 books, all donated by wealthy 
shareholders; by 1920 it had 7,000 volumes. 17 

The library also had a small room used for lectures, games, a drawing school, singing lessons, 
Sunday school classes, Episcopal Church services, and English lessons. More than a fine 
example of Queen Anne architecture, the building represents the company's significant 
investment in paternalistic social programs aimed at controlling and Americanizing their large 
immigrant worker population. In 1882, Barrows announced that all mill workers had a year to 
learn to read and write English. Many workers, unable to meet the 1883 deadline, lost their 
jobs.18 

Mill Workers 
In the mid nineteenth century, many of the mill's workers were rural Irish immigrants. Highly 
skilled workers came from England, Scotland, and northern Germany. From the post-Civil War 
period to the mid twentieth century, the mill employed rural French Canadians, Poles, Russians, 
Ukranians, Italians, Swedes, Eastern European Jews, Latvians, Lebanese, African Americans 
migrating from the South, and World War II refugees, as well as northern New Englanders. In 
the 1960s and 1970s, there were also Latinos from Puerto Rico and Mexico. 19 

The 1910 census shows that nearly one third of Windham's population were immigrants from 26 
countries (including 46% French Canadian, 15% Irish, 15% Polish, 6% British, 3% each 
Swedish and Italian, 2% each German and Eastern European Jews). Except for highly skilled 
workers, most mill workers received low wages, usually paid piece rate. Women were paid less 
than men, and children received even lower pay. Company housing was a necessity, as there 
was not sufficient private housing in the area. Rent was taken directly from worker's weekly 
pay.20 

The mill had one of the earliest charters (Local 307) of the United Textile Workers of America, 
issued in 1902, shortly after the union was founded. While workers enjoyed higher pay from 
increased production during World War I, wages declined with a series of pay cuts after the war. 
In 1925, the Local 307 union workers protested in a major strike beginning in March, with over 
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2,200 strikers participating in one of Connecticut's worst labor disputes. The company brought in 
police for security and hired replacement workers, and the strike ended in defeat for the union in 
September. 21 

Electric Lighting Technology 
The Willimantic Linen Company was a leader in lighting innovation among textile mills. Its 
buildings were test labs for a new technology that transformed mill building design and working 
conditions for mill laborers, making night-time shifts possible. Under the leadership of Austin 
Cornelius Dunham, a friend of Thomas Edison, the company began testing electric lighting 
technology in the mill buildings as it developed. In 1879 the company tested two electric arc 
lights, developed by Charles Francis Brush of Cleveland, in Mill No. 2's Winding Room. They 
were powered by electricity generated by a water wheel. The mill staged a public event and 
invited "a large number of distinguished gentlemen from various parts of the country" to see the 
lighting demonstration. Later in 1879, twenty additional electric arc lamps were installed in Mill 
No. 2.22 

That same year, a new Brush Electric Company arc light system was installed in Mill No. 3, with 
additional lights installed in 1880. Austin Cornelius Dunham and several directors of the 
Willimantic Linen Company were so devoted to the new lighting technology that they, along 
with other industrialists, founded the American Light Company. In 1882, Dunham became 
associated with the Hartford Electric Light Company.23 

The Willimantic Linen Company's Mill No. 4, an enormous brick, single-story building 
completed in 1880 on the south side of the river, was the first textile mill in the world to be 
designed for electric light. At the time of completion, it was the largest factory building in the 
world in acreage covered (three and a half acres). The company tested two types of lighting: the 
Brush arc lighting and the United States Electric Light Company's "Maxime" arc lighting. They 
selected the Brush system, but continued to monitor new developments in electrical lighting, 
especially incandescent technology. In 1882, Mill No. 2's Winding Room was the test site for 
sixty incandescent lamps, powered by steam. In 1883, the Carding Room was used for testing the 
new Brush-Swan incandescent lighting system, which was battery powered. Later that year the 
company began switching to battery-powered incandescent lighting, with Mill No. 2's second 
floor and the Library and Company Store lit solely with incandescent lamps.24 

American Thread Company 
Barrows left the Willimantic Linen Company in 1883.25 The company built one additional 
building, the Cotton House adjacent to Mill No. 4, in 1884. Except for a small wood frame Dye 
House built in 1891, no major construction was undertaken for another fifteen years, after the 
American Thread Company, a British trust, took over the mill in 1898. It quickly began a new 
phase of expansion that continued the change in architectural character that began with Mill No. 
4, shifting from the Romanesque Revival stone buildings to utilitarian brick and reinforced 
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concrete structures. The reasons for the change in building materials and styles are not 
documented, but may have been related to ease of material procurement and labor costs. 

Mill No. 5 was a five-story brick building completed in 1899 to house thread finishing processes. 
As historian Laura Knott-Twine, former director of the Windham Textile and History Museum, 
writes, "The cotton thread manufacturing processes at the Willimantic plant subsequently took 
place in an east to west, single line direction. Cotton bales were carded and spun in Mill Number 
Four, the most easterly mill. The thread passed to the west end of Mill Number Two to the dye 
and bleaching department, and to the new mill to be finished as spool thread. Finally, it passed 
under a tunnel built under South Main Street to be stored and shipped in Mill Number One. 
ATCO's 1899 rationalization plan meant that raw cotton bales were manufactured into cotton 
thread in straight line processes covering one half mile." 26 

Mill No. 6, a four-story building also dedicated to finishing, followed in 1907. The Boiler House 
was rebuilt in 1900 and 1908. An additional three-story Bleach House, located between Mill No. 
4 and the Stone Office, was completed in 1910. A connecting building joined Mill No. 5 and 
Mill No. 6 in 1916. A new five-story concrete warehouse west of Mill No. 1 was also completed 
in 1916. An Auto House (garage) was added in 1918, adjacent to the Stable. 

Along with the rest of the New England textile industry, American Thread's cotton thread 
industry began to wane in the twentieth century. It switched to production of synthetics in the 
1950s and 1960s, and closed the Willimantic facility in 1985. Like dozens of other textile mills, 
it was a victim of twentieth-century deindustrialization. 27 

Throughout most of the late twentieth century, much of the American Thread complex remained 
empty. Fire destroyed Mill No. 4 in 1995, and many of the brick buildings were demolished, 
including Mill No. 5 and Mill No. 6, the Boiler House, and the Bleach House just east of Mill 
No. 6. The smoke stack was taken down in 2011. The Auto House was also demolished. 

Exterior restoration has been completed on Mill No. 2 and all connecting buildings. The Store 
House & Inspection Building has been rehabilitated and now contains office space and light 
manufacturing, along with portions of Mill No. 2. The other buildings connected to Mill No. 2 
remain vacant, along with the Stable and the Office. Mill No. 1 and the 1916 Store House have 
been renovated as multi-family housing. There are current plans to rehabilitate much of the 
undeveloped Mill No. 2 complex as a mixed-use development, with office space on the first floor 
and housing on the upper floors. 
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